STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

**ORIGINAL**

Appeal from Kershaw County  
Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**

NOV 20 2018

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

DAVID ONEIL VINCENT,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-001744

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

TAYLOR D. GILLIAM  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

**Whether the trial court erred in admitting Appellant's statement that he was at the scene of the alleged crime, where the law enforcement officer who took his statement asked incriminating questions in an environment where Appellant was not free to leave, without advising him of his constitutional rights.**

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

A Kershaw County Grand Jury indicted Appellant on April 13, 2016 for assault and battery in the second degree. R. 262 On August 10, 2017, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Clifton B. Newman and a jury. R. 1. Curtis A. Pauling, III and Curtis R. Hutchinson appeared on behalf of the State. Jason D. Kirincich and James F. Lyon, V, represented Appellant.

The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 262, ll. 11 – 18. The trial court sentenced Appellant to three years' incarceration, suspended to two years' probation after eight months.

This appeal follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006); State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 545 S.E.2d 827 (2001); State v. Wood, 362 S.C. 520, 608 S.E.2d 435 (Ct.App.2004). This court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Quattlebaum, 338 S.C. 441, 527 S.E.2d 105 (2000); State v. Amerson, 311 S.C. 316, 428 S.E.2d 871 (1993); State v. Landis, 362 S.C. 97, 606 S.E.2d 503 (Ct. App. 2004).

The trial judge determines the admissibility of a statement upon proof of its voluntariness by a preponderance of the evidence. State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 378, 652 S.E.2d 444, 448 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing State v. Washington, 296 S.C. 54, 55, 370 S.E.2d 611, 612 (1988); State v. Smith, 268 S.C. 349, 354, 234 S.E.2d 19, 21 (1977)); State v. Arrowood, 375 S.C. 359, 365, 652 S.E.2d 438, 441 (Ct.App.2007). If admitted, the jury must then determine whether the statement was given freely and voluntarily beyond a reasonable doubt. Washington, 296 S.C. at 55–56, 370 S.E.2d at 612.

“Factual conclusions as to the voluntariness of a statement will not be disturbed on appeal unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion.” Arrowood, 375 S.C. at 365, 652 S.E.2d at 441; Baccus, 367 S.C. at 48, 625 S.E.2d at 220; State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 551 S.E.2d 240 (2001); State v. Kennedy, 333 S.C. 426, 429, 510 S.E.2d 714, 715 (1998); State v. Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. 234, 242, 471 S.E.2d 689, 695 (1996). “In criminal cases, appellate courts are bound by fact finding in response to preliminary motions where there has been conflicting testimony or where the findings are supported by the evidence and not clearly wrong or controlled by an error of law.” State v. Asbury, 328 S.C. 187, 193, 493 S.E.2d 349, 352 (1997) (citing State v. Amerson, 311 S.C. at 320, 428 S.E.2d at 873); State v. Franklin, 299 S.C. 133,

138, 382 S.E.2d 911, 914 (1989). “When reviewing a trial court's ruling concerning voluntariness, this Court does not reevaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but simply determines whether the trial court's ruling is supported by any evidence.” Saltz, 346 S.C. at 136, 551 S.E.2d at 252; State v. Breeze, 379 S.C. 538, 543, 665 S.E.2d 247, 250 (Ct. App. 2008); Miller, 375 S.C. at 378–79, 652 S.E.2d at 448.

## ARGUMENT

**The trial court erred in admitting Appellant’s statement that he was at the scene of the alleged crime, where the law enforcement officer who took his statement asked incriminating questions in an environment where Appellant was not free to leave, without advising him of his constitutional rights?**

### **Background**

Rosa Lee Vincent divorced Appellant on September 17, 2015. R. 41, ll. 14 – 15. In October 2015, she was working as a cosmetologist at Roxie Hart Salon. R. 41, l. 16 – R. 42, ll. 17. On October 2, 2015, she was working at the hair salon when she “heard someone screaming for someone to leave now.” R. 54, l. 19 – R. 55, l. 4. She saw a woman named Ashley Frost pointing at Appellant and yelling at him to leave. R. 55, ll. 13 – 19. She did not see an altercation but saw Trisha Guy getting up off the floor. R. 56, ll. 11 – 17.

Trisha Guy testified that she saw Appellant in the salon and, while standing a few feet away, told him that he was not supposed to be there and should leave. R. 67, l. 18 – R. 68, l. 6. He had come in previously and informed the receptionist that he had an appointment. R. 130, ll. 10 – 16. Guy alleged that Appellant grabbed her and threw her. R. 68, l. 17 – R. 69, l. 19.

Appellant then “turned around and just casually walked out of the salon.” R. 57, ll. 11 – 13. According to Ms. Vincent, law enforcement was called and responded. R. 59, ll. 21 – 24; R. 71, ll. 10 – 24. Guy was taken to the hospital where she provided a statement. Id.

### **Jackson v. Denno hearing**

Penny Lloyd, an employee at the Camden Police Department, was the State’s only witness at the Jackson v. Denno hearing. R. 14, l. 36 – R. 34, l. 5. On October 2, 2015, Lloyd

responded to the incident at Roxie Hart Salon in Camden. R. 15, l. 4 – R. 16, l. 13. Lloyd was told that Appellant was alleged to have thrown an employee to the floor. R. 17, ll. 4 – 16.

At the hair salon, Lloyd did not speak with the allegedly injured employee, Trisha Guy. R. 17, ll. 17 – 19. Ostensibly without speaking to Guy, Lloyd “initiated [arrest] warrants for Appellant.” R. 17, l. 23 – R. 18, l. 8. On the evening of the alleged incident, according to Lloyd, Appellant learned of the arrest warrant(s) and “contacted another officer by phone.” R. 18, ll. 1 – 8. That officer told Appellant that Lloyd would meet him at the Kershaw County Detention Center and confirmed that Lloyd had “warrants against [Appellant] for this incident.” Id.

Specifically, Lloyd had a warrant for assault and battery in the second degree. R. 18, ll. 9 – 11. Lloyd then met Appellant at the Detention Center. Upon arriving, Lloyd noticed that Appellant was outside the Detention Center with family members. R. 18, ll. 15 – 23. Lloyd testified that the initial meeting between her and Appellant transpired as follows:

I pulled in and I got out of my vehicle. And we approached each other pretty quickly. Mr. Vincent and I were familiar with each other from my position at the Police Department. And I think right away, I did feel comfortable enough, I looked at him and I said, What on earth is going on? What has happened here?

R. 19, ll. 9 – 16. Lloyd did not Mirandize Appellant at all, even though she was “acting on the warrant.” R. 19, ll. 17 – 20; R. 20, ll. 5 – 6. Because Lloyd was unable to serve her own warrant, a sergeant had already been notified to send someone to the area to serve it. R. 20, ll. 7 – 13. It was unclear whether Appellant was aware of this policy.

When asked whether Appellant was in custody, Lloyd did not answer in the affirmative or negative, simply responding: “There were no handcuffs or anything on him. He knew that I likely had warrants for him.” R. 19, ll. 21 – 23.

In response to Lloyd’s two questions, Appellant apologized. R. 20, l. 19 – R. 22, l. 12. “He said something along the lines of he should not have gone there.” Id. He also mentioned,

according to Lloyd, that “he didn’t mean for anybody to get hurt.” Id. Additionally, he supposedly told Lloyd that “he thought [Guy] had something in her hand when she approached him at the business and pointed and asked him to leave.” Id. Appellant’s statement was not reduced to writing, and Lloyd never interviewed him again regarding his statement. Id.

On cross-examination, Lloyd admitted that Appellant was turning himself in that night. R. 23, ll. 11 – 12. She admitted that Appellant’s statement was not in her incident report. R. 23, ll. 20 – 25. Notably, Lloyd admitted **Appellant was not free to leave:**

Q: Was Mr. Vincent free to leave? Could he have left if he wanted to?

A: To my understanding, he was there to turn himself in to us. He knew that I had warrants. And he had - - it sounded like he had some conversation he wanted to have as well. As I said, he approached me as well when I got out of the vehicle. So if he would have tried to leave, **he probably would have been stopped.**

R. 25, l. 18 – R. 26, l. 1 (emphasis added).

At the conclusion of the pre-trial hearing, the trial court heard argument from both parties. R. 28, l. 21 – R. 34, l. 17. Defense counsel noted:

[W]hen I asked Lieutenant Lloyd if [Appellant] if he was free to leave, after some reflection, she said, No, if he tried to leave, he would have been stopped. So I believe effectively he was in custody even though he was not in handcuffs. It would have been appropriate for her to Mirandize him at the time. She knew he was there to turn himself in. He was not leaving.

R. 29, l. 18 – R. 30, l. 1.

The trial court recalled only one of the questions Lloyd asked Appellant, “What on earth is going on?” but not the second question which was likely to yield potentially incriminating information, “What has happened here?” R. 30, l. 2 – R. 31, l. 16; R. 32, l. 15 – R. 33, l. 3. However, after hearing arguments from counsel, the trial court ruled “that the statements were not in response to a custodial interrogation” and denied the motion. R. 33, l. 18 – R. 34, l. 5.

## Discussion

Lloyd testified in the jury's presence that Appellant called a law enforcement officer who was in her patrol car; Appellant was told that warrants were being taken out for his arrest. R. 165, ll. 7 – 21. Lloyd testified that Appellant was asked to meet at the Detention Center. Id. She felt like she had probable cause to obtain an arrest warrant following receipt of the initial written statement made by Guy. R. 178, l. 23 – R. 179, l. 2.

Lloyd testified before the jury that Appellant's verbal statement, although never recorded or reduced to writing, consisted of an admission that he was at the hair salon, that he should not have gone there, and that he did not want anyone to get hurt. R. 176, ll. 3 – 10. Lloyd was the State's last witness before the prosecution rested. R. 180, l. 4 – R. 181, l. 5. Defense counsel did not move for a directed verdict.

Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368, 84 S.Ct. 1774, 12 L.Ed.2d 908 (1964) provides that a defendant in a criminal case is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on the voluntariness of statements made by the defendant prior to submission of such statements to the jury. Where there is conflicting evidence regarding the statements, the court must make a finding as to their validity. State v. Childs, 299 S.C. 471, 385 S.E.2d 839 (1989).

A defendant is entitled to a "reliable determination as to the voluntariness of his [statement] by a tribunal other than the jury charged with deciding his guilt or innocence." State v. Fortner 266 S.C. 223, 226, 222 S.E.2d 508, 510 (1976); State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 381, 652 S.E.2d 444, 450 (Ct. App. 2007). "Once the trial judge determines that the statement is admissible, it is up to the jury to ultimately determine, beyond a reasonable doubt, whether the statement was voluntarily made." Miller, 375 S.C. at 383, 652 S.E.2d at 451 (citing State v. Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. 234, 243, 471 S.E.2d 689, 695 (1996)). "In South Carolina, the judge makes

this initial determination of voluntariness required by Jackson v. Denno.” Fortner, 266 S.C. at 226, 222 S.E.2d at 510.

The test of admissibility of a statement is voluntariness. State v. Franklin, 299 S.C. 133, 382 S.E.2d 911 (1989). Any statement given freely and voluntarily without any compelling influence is admissible in evidence. Id., 382 S.E.2d at 912. Certainly, if a defendant is not “in custody” at the time he makes a statement to the authorities, Miranda warnings are not required. The Miranda safeguards are employed to insure the voluntariness of a defendant's statements once he is in custody. See Franklin, 382 S.E.2d at 912–913 quoting from Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. 291, 100 S.Ct. 1682, 64 L.Ed.2d 297 (1980) (“The Miranda safeguards come into play whenever a person in custody is subjected to either express questioning or its functional equivalent.”)

In State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 647 S.E.2d 144 (2007), the South Carolina Supreme Court instructed:

In determining whether a confession was given “voluntarily,” this Court must consider the totality of the circumstances surrounding the defendant's giving the confession. Schneekloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 226, 93 S.Ct. 2041, 36 L.Ed.2d 854 (1973). As the United States Supreme Court has instructed, the totality of the circumstances includes “the youth of the accused, his lack of education or his low intelligence, the lack of any advice to the accused of his constitutional rights, the length of detention, the repeated and prolonged nature of the questioning, and the use of physical punishment such as the deprivation of food or sleep.” Id. (internal citations omitted). Furthermore, no one factor is determinative, but each case requires careful scrutiny of all the surrounding circumstances. Id.

Pittman, 373 S.C. at 566, 647 S.E.2d at 164. See also Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 279, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 113 L.Ed.2d 302 (1991) (applying totality of the circumstances test to determine confession's voluntariness); State v. Myers, 359 S.C. 40, 47, 596 S.E.2d 488, 492 (2004) (“A determination whether a statement was ‘given voluntarily requires an examination of the totality

of the circumstances.’ ” (quoting Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. at 243, 471 S.E.2d at 694–95)); State v. Peake, 291 S.C. 138, 139, 352 S.E.2d 487, 488 (1987) (“The test for determining the admissibility of a statement is whether it was knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily given under the totality of the circumstances.”) (citing State v. Rabon, 275 S.C. 459, 272 S.E.2d 634 (1980)); State v. Arrowood, 375 S.C. 359, 367, 652 S.E.2d 438, 442 (Ct. App. 2007) (“The trial judge's determination of the voluntariness of the statement must be made on the totality of the circumstances, including the background, experience, and conduct of the accused.”).

Multiple factors are considered when deciding whether a statement was made voluntarily.

In Miller, this court observed:

The Supreme Court, in Withrow v. Williams, 507 U.S. 680, 113 S.Ct. 1745, 123 L.Ed.2d 407 (1993), set forth a non-exclusive list of factors which may be considered in the totality-of-the-circumstances analysis:

Under the due process approach ... courts look to the totality of circumstances to determine whether a statement was voluntary. Those potential circumstances include not only the crucial element of police coercion, Colorado v. Connelly, 479 U.S. 157, 167, [107 S.Ct. 515, 93 L.Ed.2d 473] (1986); the length of the interrogation, Ashcraft v. Tennessee, 322 U.S. 143, 153–154, [64 S.Ct. 921, 88 L.Ed. 1192] (1944); its location, see Reck v. Pate, 367 U.S. 433, 441, [81 S.Ct. 1541, 6 L.Ed.2d 948] (1961); its continuity, Leyra v. Denno, 347 U.S. 556, 561, [74 S.Ct. 716, 98 L.Ed. 948] (1954); the defendant's maturity, Haley v. Ohio, 332 U.S. 596, 599–601, [68 S.Ct. 302, 92 L.Ed. 224] (1948) (opinion of Douglas, J.); education, Clewis v. Texas, 386 U.S. 707, 712, [87 S.Ct. 1338, 18 L.Ed.2d 423] (1967); physical condition, Greenwald v. Wisconsin, 390 U.S. 519, 520–521, [88 S.Ct. 1152, 20 L.Ed.2d 77] (1968) (*per curiam*); and mental health, Fikes v. Alabama, 352 U.S. 191, 196, [77 S.Ct. 281, 1 L.Ed.2d 246] (1957). They also include the failure of police to advise the defendant of his rights to remain silent and to have counsel present during custodial interrogation. Haynes v. Washington, 373 U.S. 503, 516–517, 83 S.Ct. 1336, 10 L.Ed.2d 513 (1963)[.]

507 U.S. at 693–94, [113 S.Ct. 1745].

Appellate entities in South Carolina have recognized that appropriate factors to consider in the totality-of-circumstances analysis include: background, experience, and conduct of the accused; age; length of custody; police misrepresentations; isolation of a minor from his or her parent; threats of violence; and promises of leniency. See Childs, 299 S.C. at 475, 385 S.E.2d at 842 (background, experience, and conduct of the accused); In re Williams, 265 S.C. 295, 217 S.E.2d 719 (1975) (age); State v. Jennings, 280 S.C. 62, 309 S.E.2d 759 (1983) (length of custody); State v. Rabon, 275 S.C. 459, 461, 272 S.E.2d 634, 635 (1980) (police misrepresentations); State v. Smith, 268 S.C. 349, 355, 234 S.E.2d 19, 21 (1977) (isolation of minor); State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 200, 391 S.E.2d 244, 246 (1990) (threats of violence and promises of leniency).