ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM KERSHAW COUNTY
Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001744

RECEIVED
NOV 19 2018
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

DAVID ONEIL VINCENT,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

HEATHER S. WEISS
Interim Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 192
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 576-1718

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM KERSHAW COUNTY

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Appellant's claim that the trial court erred in failing to suppress his statement to police, that he was at the scene of the crime, is not preserved for review because Appellant failed to object to the testimony when it was introduced at trial. Even if preserved, the trial court properly determined the statement was admissible because Appellant was not in custody, and because it was voluntarily given and was not a result of interrogation or police coercion. Finally, any possible error in admitting the statement was entirely harmless where Appellant's acknowledgement he was at the scene of the crime was cumulative to properly admitted testimony from multiple eyewitnesses who independently placed him there.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in admitting his statement to the police admitting he was at the scene of the alleged crime, claiming that the officer who testified to his statement asked him incriminating questions in an environment where he was not free to leave before informing him of his constitutional rights. However, this argument is without merit and should be denied and dismissed for several reasons. First, the argument is not preserved for appellate review because Appellate failed to object to the allegedly incriminating testimony when it was offered at trial. Second, even if the issue is preserved, there is ample evidence in the record to support the trial court's determination that the statement was admissible, both because Appellant was not in custody, and because it was voluntarily given rather than as a result of interrogation or police coercion. Finally, any error in the admission of the statement was entirely harmless because it was cumulative to properly admitted testimony from multiple eyewitnesses who independently placed Appellant at the scene of the crime. For all of these reasons, Appellant's challenge to the statements he made to Officer Lloyd that he was at the scene of the crime should be denied, and his conviction should be affirmed.

Issue Preservation

“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.” *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 (2003), *citing Humbert v. State*, 345 S.C. 332, 548 S.E.2d 862 (2001). “A party need not use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve it, but it must be clear that the argument has been presented on that ground.” *Dunbar*, 356 S.C. at 142, 587 S.E.2d at 694 (2003), *citing State v. Russell*, 345 S.C. 128, 546 S.E.2d 202 (Ct. App. 2001). “An issue that was not preserved for review should not be addressed by the Court of Appeals . . .” *Dunbar*, 356 S.C. at 142, 587 S.E.2d at 694 (2003), *citing Hendrix v. Eastern Distribution, Inc.*, 320 S.C. 218, 464 S.E.2d 112 (1995). “Because a ruling on a motion *in limine* is preliminary and subject to change based on developments at trial, a contemporaneous objection must be made again when the evidence is presented at trial. *State v. Wiles*, 383 S.C. 151, 679 S.E.2d 172 (2009).

Before the jury was sworn, the trial court held a *Jackson v. Denno* hearing regarding the admissibility of Officer Lloyd’s testimony as to Appellant’s statement that he was at the scene of the alleged crime. (R.p.13-p.34). Appellant first argued his statement to officer Lloyd prior to his arrest should be excluded because it was in response to a custodial interrogation prior to be given his *Miranda* rights. However, he acknowledged he later made similar statements to the police which would be admissible. (R.p.29-p.31). Ultimately, the trial judge ruled that the statements were voluntarily made and were not in response to custodial interrogation. (R.p.34).

During the ensuing jury trial, the State called Officer Lloyd to the stand to tell the jury about her role in the arrest of Appellant, which included testimony that Appellant had told her: “I know I shouldn’t have gone there; I’m sorry, I didn’t want anyone to get hurt, but I thought she

had something in her hand.” (R.p.167). Appellant did not renew his pretrial objection or otherwise object to Lloyd’s testimony about Appellant’s statement during trial.

Prior to Officer Lloyd taking the stand to describe Appellant’s statement, several fact witnesses had already placed Appellant at the scene of the crime, three of whom actually witnessed his assault on Guy. Ms. Vincent, Appellant’s ex-wife, encountered Appellant in the salon immediately after the assault. (R.p.54-p.58). Guy, the victim of the assault, testified she knew Appellant before the incident and proceeded to describe the assault which left her with broken tailbone, a neck injury, and a wrist injury. (R.p.61-p.75). Peake, the receptionist, testified she did not recognize Appellant when he first entered the salon, but was now able to identify him as the person she saw come into the salon and assault Guy. (R.p.126-p.139). Ashley Frost also identified Appellant and witnessed the assault. (R.p.147-p.159).

Because Appellant did not make any objection to Officer Lloyd’s testimony regarding Appellant’s statement, which was made during trial in the jury’s presence, he failed to preserve any issue related to this testimony on appeal. Therefore, this issue is not preserved for review. To the extent this Court finds this issue properly preserved, the State submits it is nevertheless without merit.

Discussion / Analysis

The State may not use statements stemming from custodial interrogation of the defendant unless it demonstrates the use of procedural safeguards effective to secure the privilege against self-incrimination. *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 444 (1966). Custodial interrogation entails questioning initiated by law enforcement officers after a person has been taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action in any significant way. *Id.* Interrogation can either be express questioning or its functional equivalent and includes words or actions on

the part of police (other than those normally attendant to arrest and custody) the police should know are reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response. *State v. Williams*, 405 S.C. 263, 273, 747 S.E.2d 194, 199 (Ct. App. 2013). In sum, *Miranda* rights attach only if the suspect is subject to custodial interrogation. *State v. Lynch*, 375 S.C. 628, 633, 654 S.E.2d 292, 295 (Ct. App. 2007).

In order to determine if a suspect was in custody for the purposes of *Miranda*, this Court must think of what a reasonable person would have believed in the same circumstance. *State v. Navy*, 386 S.C. 294, 301, 688 S.E.2d 838, 841 (2010). To determine reasonableness, the court must examine the totality of the circumstances surrounding the police encounter. *Id.* This includes factors such as the place, purpose, and length of interrogation, as well as whether the suspect was free to leave the place of questioning. *Williams*, 405 S.C. at 273, 747 S.E.2d at 199. The Fifth Amendment does not provide a uniform protection against every statement made to law enforcement officials. *State v. Miller*, 375 S.C. 370, 380, 652 S.E.2d 444, 449 (Ct. App. 2007). “The trial court’s factual conclusions as to the voluntariness of a statement will not be disturbed on appeal unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. 114, 136, 551 S.E.2d. 240, 252 (2001). As noted above, this Court’s standard of review for evaluating proof of voluntariness is “limited to determining whether the trial court’s ruling is supported by any evidence.” *State v. Breeze*, 379 S.C. 538, 543, 665 S.E.2d 247, 250 (Ct. App. 2008).

Custody

Appellate argues that because he was in custody, Officer Lloyd’s questions constituted custodial interrogation. However, “Custodial interrogation is ‘questioning initiated by law enforcement officers after a person has been taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his

freedom of action in any significant way.” *State v. Lynch*, 375 S.C. 628, 633, 654 S.E.2d 292, 295 (Ct. App. 2007). (citing *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 444 (1966)). Appellant was not deprived of his freedom in any way. He came to the detention center at his own will after realizing that there were warrants out against him. In fact, he even called an officer to arrange the meeting with Officer Lloyd himself.

To determine if someone is in custody, the court must conduct a totality of the circumstances analysis to determine whether a reasonable person would have believed he was in custody in the same situation. In the present case, the trial court and this Court could examine several factors. First, no officer served Appellant with arrest warrants before or during this encounter, indicating that he could not have reasonably believed he was in custody because he had not yet been served. Additionally, Appellant was neither handcuffed nor restrained in anyway. Moreover, Appellant told Officer Lloyd he was going to turn himself in peaceably and wanted to make sure there was no problem because his children were present. This further demonstrates Appellant did not believe he was in custody when he was talking to Officer Lloyd, even though he believed he would be in custody soon. Furthermore, Appellant contacted the police regarding the warrants that were out against him and he arranged the meeting with Officer Lloyd at the detention center *himself*, not at the request of law enforcement. He was in control of the situation and knew he was not in custody when he was speaking to Officer Lloyd. When looking at all of these factors, it becomes apparent Appellant was not in custody at the time he made incriminating statements to Officer Lloyd.

Appellant argues that because Officer Lloyd testified Appellant “probably would have been stopped” if he tried to leave the parking lot, he was in custody. (R.p.25-p.26; Brief of Appellant, p. 7). However, the South Carolina Supreme Court, in *State v. Easler*, has held that

even if a defendant is not free to leave, that alone is not enough to make the determination that he was in custody. 322 S.C. 333, 336, 471 S.E.2d 745, 748 (1996). In *Easler*, a truck driver who had been involved in a fatal accident appealed his conviction arguing the trial court improperly admitted statements he made to the police prior to his arrest because the statements were a result of police questioning, and the officers had not given him *Miranda* warnings. *Id.* at 336, 471 S.E.2d at 748. The officers testified appellant was not free to leave the encounter and if defendant had attempted to flee, he would have been placed under arrest. *Id.* at 337, 471 S.E.2d at 748. The court determined the defendant was not in custody, thus the officers did not need to Mirandize him and the statements made were admissible. Similarly, Appellant was not in custody at the time the statements were given, thus Officer Lloyd was not required to Mirandize him and his statements were properly admitted.

Voluntariness

Appellant made his statements voluntarily and without coercion from Officer Lloyd. The totality of the circumstances surrounding the interaction between Officer Lloyd and Appellant show Appellant made the statements voluntarily. This Court must only look at whether there was “any evidence” that supports the trial court’s ruling of voluntariness. *State v. Breeze*, 379 S.C. 538, 543, 665 S.E.2d 247, 250 (Ct. App. 2008). During a *Jackson v. Denno* the trial judge must conduct an evidentiary hearing where the State must show the statement was voluntarily made by a preponderance of the evidence. *Jackson v. Denno*, 378 U.S. 368, 376 (1964). The evidence that the State presented to the trial court during the *Jackson v. Denno* hearing is sufficient to establish that Appellant’s statement to Officer Lloyd was voluntary. When Officer Lloyd arrived to the Detention Center, Appellant approached her when she got out of her vehicle. Officer Lloyd did not initiate the conversation. This indicates that there was no confrontation by

Officer Lloyd. Officer Lloyd knew Appellant before this encounter, and her questions to him at the detention center were a result of friendly conversation because of this previous relationship. Officer Lloyd did not coerce Appellant into speaking with her, nor did she manipulate, trick, or otherwise deceive him into saying “[I] should not have gone there.” (R.p.20-p.21). After this and other incriminating statements were made, Appellant continued to have a general conversation with Officer Lloyd, (R.p.21.), indicating that he did not feel threatened or uncomfortable speaking with her.

It is irrelevant that Officer Lloyd asked Appellant specifically: “What on earth is going on? What has happened here?,” because to determine voluntariness the court does not look at whether the officer’s questions were the cause of the statement, the court looks at whether the questions were “so manipulative and coercive that they deprived [Appellant] of his ability to make an unconstrained, autonomous decision to confess.” *State v. Van Dohlen*, 322 S.C. 234, 244, 471 S.E.2d 689, 695 (1996); *Miller v. Fenton*, 796 F.2d 598, 605 (3rd Cir. 1986). Here, Officer Lloyd’s statements were simply a common courtesy given to someone she knew previous to this encounter. The statements were not manipulative or coercive; Appellant did not have to answer the questions with an apology and an acknowledgement of being at the salon. The questions asked by Officer Lloyd were not interrogatory; it was small talk to pass the time with an acquaintance while waiting for another officer to serve Appellant with his warrants. Appellant was free to answer the questions however he chose, or not answer them at all.

Furthermore, the South Carolina Supreme Court in *Easler* determined that even though the officers asked the defendant questions, the questions were simply general questions and were not enough to amount to interrogation, thus all the statements made were voluntary. *Easler*, 332 S.C. 333, 342, 471 S.E.2d 745, 750 (1996). The defendant had left the scene of a fatal car

accident and the officer approached him and asked if he had been in the accident. *Id.* at 337, 471 S.E.2d at 478. Defendant responded that he had and told the officer he left the scene because he did not have a license. *Id.* The court held these were just general questions and there was no interrogation. *Id.* Similarly, Officer Lloyd also asked questions pertaining to what had happened that day, but her questions were also general and the responses were voluntarily given.

The trial court had the opportunity to listen to the testimony by Officer Lloyd, assess her demeanor and credibility, and weigh the evidence of the incident in the parking lot of the detention facility. After looking at the totality of the circumstances, the trial judge determined Appellant's statements were not the result of custodial interrogation. (R.p.33). Thus, the statements were admitted into evidence at trial. The trial court properly admitted the evidence of Appellant's statements to Officer Lloyd at trial. Furthermore, given the eyewitness identification testimony at trial, there was overwhelming evidence of Appellant's presence at the crime scene which rendered any error in admission of his statement to that effect harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *See State v. Mitchell*, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (holding whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the case, but it is harmless where it could not reasonably have changed the outcome of the trial). For all of these reasons, Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the judgment, conviction, and sentence of the lower court be affirmed.